Dear Pro Se Intake Clerk,

Please docket the attached filing titled “Defendant’s Rule 11 Motion for Sanctions — Mphasis Corp. v. Rojas (1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)
(OTW))” in Mphasis Corporation v. Rojas, Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW).

This submission is filed on the first permissible filing date following the Court’s most recent filing injunction and is brought pursuant
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11(b)(3).

The motion challenges the factual contention contained in ECF 12 p. 20 ] 2 — that “Defendant refused to return the QBE-issued laptop to
Mphasis as directed by QBE” — as lacking evidentiary support and constituting a false predicate within the record. As documented in the
supporting papers and record citations (ECF 14-25, 14-38, 14-41 p. 52, 480, and 481), no QBE directive or “refusal” ever occurred.

For the Court’s convenience, Exhibit A — Index of Stricken Filings (ECF 458-472) is attached and incorporated by reference. It
summarizes each stricken filing and demonstrates that Defendant’s prior submissions were Rule 60(b)(3) record-correction efforts, not
duplicative motions.

The motion also encloses:
» Exhibit B — October 21, 2025 email from Plaintiff’s counsel Kimberly R. Karseboom (“Stop Email”)
o Exhibit C — Rule 11 Safe-Harbor Notice (Oct 20, 2025)
» Exhibit D — QBE Chain-of-Custody Request (Oct 30, 2025)
» Exhibit E — Declaration and Addendum under 28 U.S.C. § 1746 (ECF 480 & 481)
These materials collectively authenticate the evidentiary chain and establish compliance with Rule 11(c)(2).
Thank you for your attention and assistance in docketing this post-injunction submission.

Respecitfully,

Is/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas (Pro Se Defendant)
319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff, v. ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.
Case No. 1:25-¢cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

RULE 11 MOTION FOR SANCTIONS (Integrated with § 1746 Record — ECF 480
and Addendum)

NOTICE OF MOTION

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, upon the accompanying Memorandum of Law, the
Declaration of Albert Rojas with supporting exhibits (including Exhibit A — Index of
Stricken Filings, ECF 458—472), the prior Rule 11(c)(2) Safe-Harbor Notice served on
July 16,2025, and upon all prior pleadings and proceedings herein, Defendant Albert
Rojas, proceeding pro se, will move this Court, at such time and place as the Court may
direct, for an order imposing sanctions pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11(b)
(3) against Plaintiff Mphasis Corporation and/or its counsel.

The motion seeks sanctions for the presentation and continued maintenance of factual
contentions lacking evidentiary support, specifically the assertion at ECF 12 p. 20 § 2 that
“Defendant refused to return the QBE-issued laptop to Mphasis as directed by QBE.”

This motion is not a request to re-litigate prior rulings, but to restore factual integrity to a
record still containing a demonstrably false predicate.

As demonstrated in the accompanying papers and record citations, that statement is
directly contradicted by Plaintiff’s own filings (ECF 14-25, 14-38, 14-41 p. 52) and
constitutes a clear violation of Rule 11(b)(3).

INTRODUCTION AND RELIEF REQUESTED
Procedural Context.

The October 22, 2025 Order (ECF 475) contains a self-contradictory directive concerning
ECF 459. Page 1 expressly holds that “ECF Nos. 459 and 470 should remain on the
docket,” yet Page 2 simultaneously directs that “ECF Nos. 458, 459, 464, 465, 466, 467,
468,471, and 472 are STRICKEN.” The record therefore does not clearly indicate
whether ECF 459 is operative or stricken, warranting clarification before any sanction or
default order may rest upon that entry. Because ECF 459 —the motion for leave to
supplement—was expressly authorized when Judge Furman granted that request and
accepted the resulting filing at ECF 470, striking ECF 459 conflicts with that
authorization and exceeds the scope of the filing injunction referenced in ECF 447.

On October 28 and 30 2025, Defendant filed a Declaration under 28 U.S.C. § 1746 (ECF
480) and an Addendum to ECF 480, each submitted under penalty of perjury to
authenticate the evidentiary record (ECF 470—479) and clarify the private-investigator
timeline (ECF 14-25). Those § 1746 filings establish a complete, sworn foundation for
the facts referenced herein. This motion/objection should therefore be read in continuity
with that record.



This motion seeks sanctions under Rule 11(b)(3) for factual contentions presented to the
Court that lack evidentiary support — specifically the assertion in ECF 12 p. 20 § 2 that
“Defendant refused to return the QBE-issued laptop to Mphasis as directed by QBE.”

As documented in Exhibit A (Index of Stricken Filings, ECF 458-472), Defendant
repeatedly attempted to correct this false predicate through targeted Rule 60(b)(3) record-
correction filings that were later stricken without review. Those filings, summarized in
Exhibit A, trace the discovery of the misrepresentation and demonstrate that the
challenged assertion lacked evidentiary support from the start.

Plaintiff’s own exhibits (ECF 14-25, 14-38, 14-41 p. 52) show that no QBE directive
existed until April 29 2025. Silence was miscast as “refusal.” Sanctions are warranted
both to deter repetition and to restore the integrity of the record.

RULE 11(c)(2) SAFE-HARBOR COMPLIANCE

On July 16,2025, Defendant served on Plaintiff’s counsel a stand-alone Rule 11 motion
with supporting exhibits, thereby triggering the 21-day safe-harbor period prescribed by
Rule 11(c)(2). No withdrawal or correction of the challenged contention occurred within
that period —or thereafter.

The filing of this motion occurs after the Court’s filing injunction expired on November
10, 2025, and consolidates the motion, memorandum, exhibits, and proposed order into a
single submission consistent with the Court’s directives.

In addition, Defendant served Rule 11(c)(2) and related record-correction notices on
Plaintiff’s counsel and QBE representatives between October 20 and November 3, 2025.
These included:

(a) a Correction Request addressing the inaccurate language in ECF 12 p. 209 2;

(b) a Chain-of-Custody Request to QBE confirming the timeline of device retrieval; and
(c) the formal Rule 11 Safe-Harbor Notice dated July 16, 2025.

True and correct copies of these communications are maintained in Defendant’s records
and will be produced upon the Court’s request.

OCTOBER 21 RESPONSE DEMONSTRATING FAILURE TO CORRECT

On October 21 2025, the day after service of Defendant’s Rule 11(c)(2) notice, Plaintiff’s
counsel Kimberly R. Karseboom responded by email:

“I have no idea why you keep bringing up irrelevant points ... the Court is already aware
that the QBE laptop was finally returned ... None of the sanctions motions are based on
the QBE laptop. As you’ve already been told, you are not to contact QBE employees.
Stop.”

Counsel’s response neither withdrew nor corrected the challenged statement in ECF 12 p.
209 2, nor did it supply any evidentiary basis for the claim. The reply is non-responsive
to the falsity identified in the Safe-Harbor Notice and instead evades the substance of the
misrepresentation.

This email, attached as Exhibit B, conclusively demonstrates that Plaintiff’s counsel was
on notice of the falsehood, elected not to correct it, and thereby violated Rule 11(b)(3)
after an opportunity to do so.



FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The following summary draws directly from the sworn § 1746 Declaration (ECF 480)
and its Addendum (docketed Oct 30 2025), which together authenticate the timeline of
events and chain of custody surrounding the QBE-issued laptop.

1. The challenged assertion. Plaintiff stated at ECF 12 p. 20 § 2 that “Defendant
refused to return the QBE-issued laptop to Mphasis as directed by OBE.”

2. The controlling record. Plaintiff’s later-filed exhibits — ECF 14-25, 14-38, and 14-41
p- 52 — prove QBE issued its first return label on April 29 2025 and no earlier
directive existed.

3. The procedural record (see Exhibit A). Each filing listed in Exhibit A (ECF 458-472)
documents Defendant’s effort to correct this falsity under Rule 60(b)(3). Those filings
were sequential, not duplicative, and collectively form the factual basis for this Rule 11
motion.

4. Downstream Effect.
The false statement became the predicate for the $9,194 .41 sanction order (ECF 404)
and subsequent enforcement efforts, infecting derivative rulings. The record still rests
on a demonstrably false predicate: the assertion at ECF 12 p.20 92 that “Defendant
refused to return the QBE-issued laptop to Mphasis as directed by QBE.” That
phrasing implies both a QBE directive and a willful refusal, yet Plaintiff’s own
exhibits (ECF 14-25, 14-38, 14-41 p.52) confirm QBE did not issue its first return label
until April 29, 2025. Before that date, no directive existed — and without a directive,
there could be no “refusal.” Silence was impermissibly mischaracterized as defiance.
This misrepresentation was not harmless: it distorted proportionality, shifted burdens,
and skewed the Court’s view of Defendant’s credibility. A judicial record anchored in
falsity cannot support sanctions, dispositive motions, or summary judgment.

Rule 11 and Judicial Duty

Rule 11(b)(3) was designed for precisely this scenario. Once a factual assertion is
shown to lack evidentiary support — particularly when disproved by the filer’s own
exhibits — counsel has an affirmative duty to withdraw or correct it. Plaintiff did not.
The persistence of this falsehood violates Rule 11(b)(3) and triggers the Court’s duty,
under both Rule 11 and Hazel-Atlas, to purge fraud-tainted findings from the record.

LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11(b)(3) mandates that all factual contentions presented
to the Court must have — or, after a reasonable opportunity for investigation, must be
likely to have — evidentiary support.

The rule imposes an affirmative duty of inquiry: before making any factual assertion to a
court, counsel must ensure that the contention is grounded in fact and not contradicted by
the record itself.

Where a party or attorney advances factual contentions without evidentiary foundation,
Rule 11(c) authorizes the Court to impose sanctions sufficient to deter repetition of such
conduct. The rule’s purpose is not punitive but protective — to safeguard the integrity of



the judicial process, prevent the perpetuation of false narratives, and ensure that litigation
proceeds upon verified fact rather than speculation or misrepresentation. See Business
Guides, Inc. v. Chromatic Commc’ns Enters., Inc., 498 U.S. 533, 543-54 (1991);
O’Malley v. New York City Transit Auth., 896 F.2d 704, 706 (2d Cir. 1990).

Thus, when the record itself disproves a party’s own factual assertion, continued reliance
upon that assertion constitutes a clear Rule 11(b)(3) violation, warranting corrective
sanctions to restore confidence in the Court’s fact-finding process.

ARGUMENT
A. The false assertion violated Rule 11(b)(3) and persisted despite notice.

Plaintiff was served with a Rule 11(c)(2) safe-harbor notice on July 16 2025 identifying
the precise falsehood. No correction followed. The persistence of the same unsupported
assertion across subsequent filings — even after Plaintiff’s own exhibits disproved it —
constitutes a continuing Rule 11(b)(3) violation.

B. Exhibit A confirms a sustained effort to correct, not relitigate.

As summarized in Exhibit A, Defendant’s filings (ECF 458—472) were directed solely to
factual correction, not to re-arguing settled issues. Each served a distinct remedial
function: initial Rule 60(b)(3) notice, evidentiary clarification, procedural
supplementation, and motion to vacate. Far from frivolous, those filings demonstrate
diligence in rectifying a proven misstatement — conduct Rule 11 is designed to protect,
not punish.

C. Sanctions are necessary to protect the Court’s integrity.

The continued presence of a demonstrably false factual predicate undermines public
confidence in judicial findings. As Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford-Empire Co., 322
U.S. 238 (1944), recognized, the courts bear an affirmative duty to purge fraud-tainted
findings. Rule 11 provides the enforcement mechanism; Rule 60(b)(3) supplies the
remedial path. Together, they compel correction.

Optional Addendum: Judicial Proportionality and Record Integrity

Recent decisions within this District reaffirm that judicial proportionality governs both
discovery and docket management. Courts must preserve what is necessary for factual
accuracy while avoiding orders that are overbroad, indefinite, or burdensome. The same
principle applies here: once a party identifies a specific, demonstrable falsehood in the
record, the Court’s duty is to correct that limited factual error—not to suppress narrowly
tailored filings that exist solely to do so.

Defendant’s Rule 60(b)(3) and Rule 11(b)(3) submissions embody that proportional
approach. They are confined to a single verifiable misrepresentation—the statement that
“Defendant refused to return the QBE-issued laptop to Mphasis as directed by QBE” —
and therefore fall squarely within the Court’s obligation to ensure that its docket reflects
verified fact, not procedural overreach.

Verified Record Reference

All factual statements in this motion derive from Defendant’s sworn § 1746 Declaration
(ECF 480) and its Addendum (docketed Oct 30 2025). Together they form a verified



record appropriate for judicial notice under Fed. R. Evid. 201(b) and should be treated as
the operative factual basis for Rule 11 review.

REQUESTED RELIEF
Defendant respectfully requests that the Court:

1. Impose sanctions under Rule 11(b)(3) on Plaintiff and/or its counsel for
advancing and maintaining the false assertion in ECF 12 p. 20 Y 2;

2. Declare that the challenged assertion — “Defendant refused to return the QBE-
issued laptop to Mphasis as directed by QBE” — lacks evidentiary support and
shall not be relied upon in any current or future ruling, order, or finding of fact,
including in connection with dispositive motions such as summary judgment;

3. Vacate or amend all derivative orders — including the $9,194.41 sanction order
(ECF 404) — that were predicated upon the false assertion, to ensure that the
record rests upon verified fact rather than misrepresentation;

4. Award Defendant reasonable costs associated with exposing and responding to
the misrepresentation, in an amount to be determined upon submission of a
supporting declaration; and

5. Grant such further relief as is just and proper to deter repetition, preserve
record accuracy, and safeguard the integrity of this Court’s proceedings.

INCORPORATION OF EXHIBIT A

For the Court’s convenience, Exhibit A (Index of Stricken Filings, ECF 458-472) is
attached and incorporated by reference. Defendant specifically requests that the District
Judge review Exhibit A in full before ruling on this motion, as it demonstrates that
each referenced filing addressed a distinct procedural step necessary to correct the record
and that Defendant’s conduct was measured, not multiplicative.

Defendant also notes that a companion declaration under 28 U.S.C. § 1746 (ECF
154) has been filed in Rojas v. Nuvem Health LLC, No. 1:25-cv-04684 (JGK)(JW),
concerning the same protected disclosures referenced herein. That sworn filing, now
part of the public record, corroborates the chronology and protected-activity
context underlying the present motion.

[PROPOSED] ORDER

Upon consideration of Defendant’s Rule 11 Motion for Sanctions, the Declaration of
Albert Rojas, all supporting exhibits including Exhibit A (Index of Stricken Filings, ECF
458-472), and the full record of this case, the Court finds that the factual contention set
forth at ECF 12 p.20 92 — namely, that “Defendant refused to return the QBE-issued
laptop to Mphasis as directed by QBE” — lacks evidentiary support and was advanced in
violation of Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b)(3).

Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED that:



The challenged contention in ECF 12 p.20 92 is sanctioned under Rule 11(b)(3) as
a factual assertion made without evidentiary foundation and contrary to Plaintiff’s
own subsequent filings (ECF 14-25, 14-38, and 14-41 p.52).

The Court declares that the assertion described above is factually unsupported and
shall not be relied upon in any current or future ruling, order, or finding of
fact in this matter, including in connection with dispositive motions such as
summary judgment.

Any prior orders predicated upon that contention, including the $9,194 .41
sanction order (ECF 404), shall be reviewed and, where necessary, vacated or
amended to ensure the record’s accuracy and the integrity of these proceedings.

Plaintiff and/or its counsel are directed to reimburse Defendant for his reasonable
costs and expenses incurred in identifying and correcting the misrepresentation, in
an amount to be determined upon submission of a supporting declaration.

The Court further reaffirms its inherent duty under Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v.
Hartford-Empire Co.,322 U.S. 238 (1944), to ensure that no judgment or order of
this Court rests upon demonstrably false factual premises.

SO ORDERED.

Dated:

,2025

New York, New York

JESSE M. FURMAN
United States District Judge

Dated: New York, New York
November 11, 2025

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas

Pro Se Defendant

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F

New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com | (646) 866-1669

Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of the October 21 2025 Gmail
correspondence from Plaintiff’s counsel acknowledging receipt of Defendant’s Rule 11
safe-harbor notice and declining to correct the misstatement in ECF 12 p. 20 9 2.

EXHIBIT LIST
Exhibit A — Index of Stricken Filings (ECF 458-472)

Exhibit B — October 21 2025 Email Response from Kimberly R. Karseboom (“Stop
Email”) demonstrating failure to correct false assertion in ECF 12 p. 20 9 2

Exhibit C — Rule 11 Safe-Harbor Notice (Oct 20 2025)



Exhibit D — QBE Chain-of-Custody Request (Oct 30 2025)
Exhibit E — Declaration under 28 U.S.C. § 1746 (ECF 480) and Addendum (ECF 481)



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, )
Plaintiff, )
)
V. ) Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)
)
ALBERT ROIJAS, )
Defendant. )
)
EXHIBIT A

INDEX OF STRICKEN FILINGS (ECF 458-472)

This exhibit provides a consolidated index of filings previously stricken from the record,
referenced in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration (ECF 480). It summarizes the evidentiary

cross-references needed for review of the Rule 60(b)(3) record-correction sequence.
Authenticated in Defendant’s Declaration under 28 U.S.C. § 1746 (ECF 480).
Executed on November 5, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas  Defendant Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com | (646) 866-1669



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION,

Plaintiff,

V.

ALBERT ROJAS,

Defendant.

Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

EXHIBIT A — INDEX OF STRICKEN FILINGS (ECF 458-472)

(For Reference Only — Not a Re-Filing)

20 9 2 ('Defendant
refused to return the
QBE-issued laptop to
Mphasis as directed by
QBE)).

ECF | Title / Caption Date Filed Purpose & Summary | Why Not
No. Duplicative or
Frivolous
458 Rule 60(b)(3) Notice of | Oct 10 2025 | Initial notice Established the
Record Correction identifying the false fraud-correction
predicate in ECF 12 p. | foundation;

predates and
informs later
clarifications.




459 | Motion for Leave to Oct 11 2025 | Requested permission | Procedural

Supplement or Clarify to file a two-page compliance;

Rule 72(b) Objection clarification linking expressly
ECF 411 & 414 disclaimed any re-
(evidence of QBE argument.
chain of custody).

460 | Letter-Motion for Oct 12 2025 | Sought leave to Addressed a new
Leave to Respond to respond to Plaintiff’s | motion filed after
Plaintiff’s Motion for new sanctions motion | the injunction—
Additional Sanctions (ECF 456). could not be

relitigation.

461 Response to Plaintiff’s | Oct 13 2025 | Rebutted ECF 456 Authorized by ECF
Motion for Additional using evidence 455; answered new
Sanctions disproving the 'refused | allegations, not

laptop' claim. prior rulings.

462 | Motion for Leave to Oct 14 2025 | Clarification under Non-duplicative;
Supplement Rule 72(b) leave granted by Judge | fulfilled explicit

Furman ("Application | court authorization.
GRANTED ... No

response may be

filed").

463 Clarification re ECF 12 | Oct 15 2025 | Presented searchable | Supplied new

463-1 | & Nuvem Addendum evidence proving ECF | factual proof;

463-2 12 9 2 false, plus distinct evidentiary

463-3 whistleblower function.

Addendum on Nuvem
data.




464 | Certificate of Service Oct 152025 | Confirmed service of | Purely
ECF 458-463 to administrative —
opposing counsel. no legal argument.

465 Supplement Clarifying | Oct 16 2025 | Connected new Expanded legal
Hazel-Atlas Fraud evidence to Hazel- basis; not repetitive
Standard Atlas and Chambers of prior filings.

precedent for record
correction.

466 | Rule 60(b)(3) Oct 16 2025 | Documented internal | Introduced direct

466-1 | Memorandum and Mphasis emails proof contradicting
Exhibit A (Email proving QBE-laptop Plaintiff’s sworn
Chain) usage was company declaration; new

policy. evidence.

467 Enhanced Motion for Oct 152025 | Requested stay of Procedural motion
Reconsideration / sanctions and with distinct relief
Clarification and Stay clarification pending (scope and timing).

Rule 60(b)(3) review.

468 Opposition to Oct 15 2025 | Opposed new Response to
Plaintiff’s Letter- sanctions request; different motion;
Motion for Additional argued ECF 12 cannot be
Sanctions (ECF 456) premise false and relitigation.

sanction
disproportionate.
469 | Notice of Supplemental | Oct 17 2025 | Notified Court of Procedural notice

Relief Sought — Rule
60(b)(3)

fraud-correction basis
and intent to vacate
tainted sanction order.

advancing record
integrity; non-
repetitive.




470 Supplemental Rule Oct 18 2025 | Linked new evidence | Distinct legal
60(b)(3) Memorandum to Hazel-Atlas and argument on fraud
of Law Chambers authority for | standard and scope

vacatur. of relief.

471 Addendum Clarifying | Oct 20 2025 | Re-submitted Exhibit | Clarification only;
Evidentiary D in searchable form; | same document in
Significance of Exhibit showed ongoing accessible format,
D communications not new argument.

contradict 'refused
laptop.'

472 | Motion for Relief from | Oct 19 2025 | Comprehensive motion | Culminating filing
Order Under Rule 60(b) to vacate $9,194.41 integrating proof
(3) and Leave to sanction based on false | from prior ECFs;
Supplement Under Rule predicate in ECF 12. new substantive
15(d) relief request.

Each filing addressed a distinct phase of record correction under Rule 60(b)(3). No two

filings are identical in purpose or content; each served the single objective of correcting
the false statement in ECF 12 p. 20 9§ 2 so that the Court’s orders rest on fact, not fiction.




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff, v. ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.
Case No. 1:25-¢cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

EXHIBIT B
GMAIL CORRECTION REQUEST — ECF 12 (p.20 9 2)

This exhibit reproduces Defendant’s contemporaneous Gmail thread correcting the false
statement in ECF 12 p. 20 § 2 and documenting good-faith compliance with QBE’s device-return

process. It forms part of the evidentiary basis for the Rule 11 motion.
Authenticated in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration (ECF 480).
Executed on November 5, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas  Defendant Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com | (646) 866-1669



M Gmall A R <rojas.albert@gmail.com>

Correction Request re ECF 12 (p. 20 1 2) — SDNY 1:25-cv-03175

Karseboom, Kimberly R. <kimberly.karseboom@ogletree.com> Tue, Oct 21, 2025 at 9:08 AM
To: AR <rojas.albert@gmail.com>

Cc: "Grob, William E." <William.Grob@ogletreedeakins.com>, "WenShin.Cheng@gbe.com" <WenShin.Cheng@qgbe.com>, "us-gbe-corpcomm@us.gbe.com" <us-gbe-
corpcomm@us.gbe.com>

| have no idea why you keep bringing up irrelevant points or why you consistently can’t follow the Court’s directions, but the Court is already aware
that the QBE laptop was finally returned as we discussed on our first call with the Court back in May. None of the sanctions motions are based on
the QBE laptop. As you've already been told, you are not to contact QBE employees. Stop.

Kimberly R. Karseboom | Ogletree Deakins
1270 Avenue of Americas, 24th Floor | New York, NY 10020 | Telephone: 212-492-2078
kimberly.karseboom@ogletree.com | www.ogletree.com | Bio

From: A R <rojas.albert@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, October 20, 2025 5:53 PM

To: Karseboom, Kimberly R. <kimberly.karseboom@ogletree.com>

Cc: Grob, William E. <william.grob@ogletree.com>; WenShin.Cheng@gbe.com; us-gbe-corpcomm@us.gbe.com
Subject: Correction Request re ECF 12 (p. 20 §] 2) — SDNY 1:25-cv-03175

[Caution: Email received from external source]

Ms. Karseboom,
For transparency, I'm copying QBE (Corporate Communications and the identified contact).

Please see the attached correspondence concerning the factual misstatement in ECF 12 (p. 20 § 2). As the record shows, the
assertion that “Defendant refused to return the QBE-issued laptop to Mphasis as directed by QBE” is contradicted by the exhibits
already before the Court — including ECF 14-25, 14-38, 14-41 p. 52, 470, and 472. Those filings demonstrate that QBE issued no
return label and remained silent until April 29, 2025, when the label was finally produced.

Because that statement became the factual predicate for the subsequent Order to Show Cause and sanctions briefing, I ask that
Plaintiff confirm by October 27, 2025 whether this representation will be corrected or withdrawn.

Respectfully,
Albert Rojas (Pro Se)
rojas.albert@gmail.com | (646) 866-1669

Attachment: Rojas_Correction_Request_ECF12.pdf

This transmission is intended only for the proper recipient(s). It is confidential and may contain attorney-client privileged information. If you are not the proper recipient, please notify the sender immediately and
delete this message. Any unauthorized review, copying, or use of this message is prohibited.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION v. ALBERT ROJAS
Case No. 1:25-¢cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

EXHIBIT C
RULE 11 SAFE-HARBOR NOTICE (Oct 20 2025)

This exhibit contains Defendant’s Rule 11(b)(3) Safe-Harbor Notice served on October 20, 2025,
providing Plaintiff and counsel with the opportunity to withdraw the false factual contention

in ECF 12 p. 20 § 2. It demonstrates procedural compliance before the present motion.
Authenticated in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration (ECF 480).

Executed on November 5, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas  Defendant Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com | (646) 866-1669



U.S. District Court, S.D.N.Y.

Mphasis Corporation v. Albert Rojas, Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

Ms. Karseboom:

This is a formal Rule 11(c)(2) safe-harbor notice regarding the following inaccurate
factual assertion in Plaintiff’s filing:

« ECF 12, p. 20 9 2: “Further, he has refused to return the QBE-issued laptop to
Mphasis as directed by QBE.”

The attached exhibits (ECF 14-25; ECF 14-38; ECF 14-41 p. 52; ECF 470; and ECF
472) demonstrate that QBE did not issue a return authorization until April 29 2025, and
that Defendant repeatedly requested return logistics. The evidence therefore

contradicts the claim of “refusal.”

Under Rule 11, you have 21 days (until November 10 2025) to withdraw or correct the
challenged statement before a Rule 11 motion is filed with the Court.

If no corrective action is taken within that time, | will proceed with a motion for
sanctions.

Sincerely,
Albert Rojas (Pro Se)



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION v. ALBERT ROJAS
Case No. 1:25-¢cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

EXHIBIT D
QBE CHAIN-OF-CUSTODY REQUEST (Oct 30 2025)

This exhibit reproduces Defendant’s correspondence to QBE’s Compliance and Legal Teams
requesting a formal chain-of-custody acknowledgment for the returned QBE-issued laptop.
It evidences the Defendant’s continued cooperation and clarifies custody irregularities cited
throughout ECF 480 and 481.

Authenticated in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration (ECF 480).
Executed on November 5, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas  Defendant Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com | (646) 866-1669



U.S. District Court, S.D.N.Y.

Mphasis Corporation v. Albert Rojas, Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

Dear WenShin,

For transparency, | am copying Mphasis counsel and QBE Corporate Communications
on this records request regarding the device referenced in SDNY Case No. 1:25-
cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW).

| am writing to request written confirmation of the timeline and chain-of-custody for the
QBE-issued laptop registered in my name, as reflected in the public docket of SDNY
Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW).

Please confirm and produce, if available:

1. The date (if any) that QBE first instructed that the device be returned — prior to
the Court’s April 29 2025 order — and the address or recipient designated for
that return;

2. Any FedEx/return label issuance date and tracking number tied to that
instruction;

3. Any internal QBE chain-of-custody or retrieval notes regarding the device.

These records are relevant to ongoing proceedings and will help clarify the public
record. Please respond by November 3, 2025.

Sincerely,
Albert Rojas (Pro Se)



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION v. ALBERT ROJAS
Case No. 1:25-¢cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

EXHIBIT E-1 (ECF 480)
DECLARATION UNDER 28 US.C. § 1746

This exhibit attaches the Declaration of Albert Rojas under 28 U.S.C. § 1746 (ECF 480), filed

October 29, 2025, consolidating and authenticating the evidentiary chain referenced in ECF 470—
479.

It establishes factual accuracy under penalty of perjury.

Executed on November 5, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas  Defendant Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com | (646) 866-1669
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Mphasis Corp. v. Rojas — Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff,
V.
ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.

Case No. 1:25-¢cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

DECLARATION OF ALBERT ROJAS UNDER 28 U.S.C. § 1746
IN SUPPORT OF FORTHCOMING RULE 72(b) OBJECTION (ECF 447)

I, Albert Rojas, declare pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746 that the following is true and correct
to the best of my knowledge and belief:

1. This declaration consolidates and authenticates the evidentiary record contained in
ECF 470 through 479 and the documentary materials originally copied or interwoven by
Plaintiff’s counsel into ECF 14 from my public whistleblower archive. It is submitted to
preserve the verified factual chain for de novo and appellate review, to demonstrate
continuing retaliation against protected whistleblower activity, and to provide the Court
with a complete baseline of truth for trial.

2.1 am the defendant in this action and submit this declaration in support of my
forthcoming Rule 72(b) objection to the Report and Recommendation (ECF 447).

3. While employed by Mphasis Corporation under QBE’s direction, I made formal
whistleblower reports to the Mphasis CIO Office, the Office of Ethics and Compliance
(oec@mphasis.com), and the corporate Whistleblower Team
(whistleblower@mphasis.com), documented in ECF 471, Exhibit A (emails dated Nov.
20-21, 2024). Those reports warned that offshore engineers were accessing and
processing regulated U.S. financial and health data through dual-endpoint QBE and
Mphasis networks without separation-of-duties or data-loss-prevention controls. I
expressly advised that requiring on-shore staff to operate entirely inside QBE’s
production environment on QBE-issued hardware created a material compliance
exposure. My communications were made in good-faith compliance with U.S. data-
privacy, audit, and security laws (including SOX, HIPAA, and NIST). ECF 14-31 (Exh.
B) shows Mphasis’s own HR/legal summary acknowledged these protected disclosures
and linked them to my termination. Consistent with ECF 473, I maintain a public
whistleblower archive (https://gbe.world) that mirrors the Court’s docket to ensure
transparency and accuracy in data-governance disclosures.

4. After I escalated these reports to the CIO, Ethics, and Whistleblower offices, Mphasis
retaliated by revoking my credentials, isolating me from project resources, and re-casting

protected disclosures as “misconduct.” Within weeks, I was terminated and then named as

the defendant in this action—built on the same false “refusal-to-return-laptop” story
disproven by the record. As confirmed in ECF 471 (Addendum & Exhs. A-B) and ECF
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Mphasis Corp. v. Rojas — Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration

14-31, Mphasis had contemporaneous knowledge of my compliance reports yet advanced
filings that inverted those facts, turning protected activity into the purported basis for
sanctions and default.

5. (Feb 28, 2025 — QBE.pptx incident). On February 28, 2025, Mphasis delivery lead
Ruturaj Waghmode transmitted the file “QBE.pptx” to my personal address (see ECF
14-4 and ECF 471-3). That broadcast— originating from Mphasis’s own domain and
infrastructure —occurred at his request so I could edit presentation content for QBE. The
following week, after Mphasis India reported “blinking lights” in its monitoring console
corresponding to my download of the file I had been asked to revise, I was summarily
terminated. This sequence shows any cross-domain transmission originated from
Mphasis’s authorized staff, not me, and that my termination immediately followed an
internal alert triggered by Mphasis’s own action. The incident, later mischaracterized by
Plaintiff as a “trade-secret” issue, exemplifies the insider-driven governance failures I had
reported.

6. (Laptop return narrative is false). The allegation in ECF 12 p. 20 § 2 that I “refused
to return the QBE-issued laptop to Mphasis as directed by QBE” is materially false and
contradicted by the record. As shown in ECF 14-25 (private-investigator affidavit), ECF
14-38 (CIO-Office email thread), ECF 14-41 p. 52 (QBE de-provisioning notice), ECF
470 (timeline supplement), ECF 471 (Addendum with Exhs. A-B), and ECF 472 (Rule
60(b)(3) motion), QBE issued no directive or shipping label until April 29, 2025 —over
six weeks after my termination. During that period I repeatedly requested instructions,
opened tickets, and copied Mphasis counsel seeking a lawful return, which went
unanswered. The emails in ECF 471 Exh. A also show I followed CIO/Whistleblower
guidance not to bridge QBE’s production network with Mphasis systems; logging in
through a QBE endpoint would have violated QBE’s Acceptable Use Policy and
Mphasis’s segmentation rules. Mphasis’s denial of an Mphasis-issued laptop (ECF 14-31)
left me unable to access the portal without breaching policy. Accordingly, the “refusal to

return” narrative is a post-hoc fabrication used to deflect scrutiny from Mphasis’s dual-
endpoint design and to justify retaliation after my protected reports. The objective record
shows I repeatedly sought a lawful return and that QBE and Mphasis delayed or
obstructed that process until compelled by court order to issue a FedEx label on April
29, 2025. When QBE finally retrieved the device, it bypassed its asset-return chain of
custody and hand-delivered the laptop directly to a Vice President rather than processing
it through the secure warehouse. This deviation from QBE's standard asset-return
protocol ensured the incident would not pass through its audit-trail systems—avoiding
disclosure to U.S. governing and certification bodies (NIST, ISO) that an active regulated
endpoint had been unmanaged for over five months. This irregular handling confirmed
the seriousness of the exposure and underscores the compliance risks I had reported (see
ECF 470).

7. (Misstatement — sanctions/default; HR clearance). The false statement in ECF 12
became the factual predicate for subsequent sanctions and default recommendations,

shaping the Court’s view of my conduct and the evidentiary narrative. That
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misrepresentation —despite contemporaneous emails and exhibits demonstrating my
good-faith compliance —converted protected whistleblower activity into the appearance
of defiance. This declaration is submitted to correct the record, preserve the verified
timeline for de novo review, and prevent further reliance on assertions already disproven
by ECF 14-25, 14-38, 14-41 p. 52,470-472, and 471. Further, ECF 472 reproduces
Mphasis’s own HR “No Due 0 USD” clearance dated March 28, 2025, certifying that all
property obligations were satisfied before QBE ever issued a return label. This

documentary evidence, from Plaintiff’s own files, confirms the alleged “refusal” never

occurred. As analyzed in ECF 474, Plaintiff’s statement in ECF 12 p. 20 § 2 was false in
all three respects—ownership, authority, and factual control—each disproven by its
own exhibits (ECF 14-25, 14-38, 14-41 p. 52).

8. (Forensic imaging — scope & protections). I acknowledge the Court’s direction
regarding forensic imaging of my personal laptop. I have never refused discovery and
have, from the outset, acted in complete transparency. Every document concerning
Mphasis and QBE was already preserved and published on my whistleblower archive
exactly as transmitted; Plaintiff later copied those same files into ECF 14 as PDF media
attachments. The Court therefore already possesses the full evidentiary record. The
proposed forensic order, however, risks converting lawful whistleblower preservation into
the appearance of misconduct. My personal device contains privileged and protected
information unrelated to this case, including compliance research and unrelated client
data. Any further inspection should therefore be limited to verifying authenticity and
integrity of files already in the record, consistent with Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(c) and the
statutory protections for whistleblower disclosures under SOX § 806 and the
Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act. I respectfully reaffirm that my intent has
never been to conceal evidence but to protect U.S.-regulated data and to maintain the
integrity of the very compliance standards Mphasis and QBE were obligated to uphold.
Treating that conduct as defiance would punish transparency itself. The Court is now on
notice of a live Rule 60(b)(3) issue (see ECF 476, 478).

9. (Public-interest context). This declaration, supported by ECF 470-479, reflects the
complete evidentiary chain confirming that the narrative advanced in ECF 12 was
knowingly false and retaliatory. These filings collectively establish a continuous pattern
of obstruction, delayed compliance, and post-hoc justification intended to conceal the
dual-endpoint exposure I lawfully reported through Mphasis’s whistleblower channels. As
a pro se defendant with a technical background, I recognize the record is complex, but
the underlying facts are straightforward: Plaintiff’s filings misrepresented compliance
events now fully documented in ECF 470—479. This case illustrates a recurring
compliance failure seen across enterprises when internal data-governance controls are
sacrificed for convenience —failures that place regulated personal information at risk.

Attached hereto as Exhibits A through H are the materials referenced in this declaration
and already interwoven by Plaintiff’s counsel into ECF 14, each bearing its own
attestation page. These exhibits collectively constitute the authenticated evidentiary
record cited in ECF 470 through 479
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on October 28, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas

Defendant, Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F

New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com | (646) 866-1669

Exhibit Index (A-H)

Page 4 of 5

Exhibits A—H attached hereto are the same materials previously interwoven into ECF 14

by Plaintiff s counsel, originating from Defendant’s whistleblower archive.

Exhibit Content Summary GLELGRIE
Supports
* A — Mphasis & QBE  Full whistleblower narrative and audit- ECF 12 92,
Data-Governance suspension request under HIPAA, 14-25, 14-38,
Failures SOC-2, and NIST 470472
* B — Dual-Use Demonstrates joint-use of QBE laptops
Endpoint and shared on-/offshore credentials ECIP LIS s
* C - Forgotten QBE Timeline showing a 5-month ECF 470-471
Laptop unmanaged endpoint gap and asset-
. D.—. Rogt Cause & Maps how the fa.lse ECF 12 stgternent ECF 472474
Litigation became the predicate for sanctions
o E — What Was Said, Dissects ECF 12 p. 20 9 2 misstatement; ECF 12,469—
Why False aligns with Rule 60(b)(3) 471

* F — Defendant

Shows Defendant’s technical

Confirms non-

Domain Expert contributions and whistleblower role misuse of QBE
systems
* G — Statement of Consolidated sworn record for public ECF 12, 13,

Record — Mphasis/

oversight and transparency

OBE Whistleblower
e H-465-473 Index summarizing the most recent
Summary docket filings and evidentiary cross-

14-25,470-472

ECF 465-473
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff,
v.
ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.

Case No. 1:25-¢cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

Exhibit Binder Preface

to
Declaration of Albert Rojas Under 28 U.S.C. § 1746
in Support of Defendant’s Rule 72(b) Objection (ECF 447)

This consolidated record is submitted pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746 and Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4) to
authenticate and preserve the evidentiary chain already contained in ECF 14 and ECF 470 through 479.
It is provided for de novo, appellate, and trial review to ensure that the Court’s record accurately reflects
the verified facts and compliance documentation referenced in the accompanying Declaration and
Exhibits A through H.

Executed on October 28, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas Defendant, Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F

New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com ¢ (646) 866-1669
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff,
v

ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.
Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

Exhibit C — Forgotten QBE Laptop
The Truth Behind QBE’s 2024 Healthcare Breach

This exhibit reproduces evidence already interwoven by Plaintiff’s counsel into ECF 14,
originally sourced from Defendant’s public whistleblower archive.

It is cited throughout ECF 470 through 479 and authenticated in the accompanying § 1746
Declaration.

The materials confirm QBE’s five-month delay in recovering an active regulated endpoint and its
bypass of the normal asset-return chain of custody —hand-delivering the laptop to a Vice
President rather than through the secure warehouse —thereby avoiding audit disclosure to U.S.
governing bodies.

Authenticated in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration.

Executed on October 28, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas

Defendant, Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F
New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com
(646) 866-1669
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Mphasis & QBE The Next Applied - Data Governance Failures and Retaliation

O

N\

The Truth Behind QBE’s 2024 Healthcare Breach

After my overseas termination, the QBE laptop sat idle in my NY apartment for 5+ months. No

L] Forgotten Laptop = Broken Governance

return label. No FedEx support. It took a federal court order to resolve the return logistics. The

final destination?

QBE VP, 55 Water Street, NYC

Forgotten Laptop:

Dec 20, 2024 at 2:34 PM: QBE states; “Al - Due to funding changes for our application roadmap and role
re-alignments we will need to do as a result, we will be ending the contract for your position ,in order to
get you some notice and continued billing through the holidays , we have advised Mphasis that you can
bill through Dec 31st. However please do start the process to return the QBE laptop assigned to you
starting next week due to the holidays and please co-ordinate with the Mphasis leadership on how to
return to the QBE location. Calling the service desk for a pre paid shipping label is also a option. | thank
you for some of the observations you have provided us on the Q-GPT application. Best wishes on your

onward journey. Group Product Manager - Gen Al

Dec 22,2024 at 8:06 AM: Whistleblower states; “The QBE laptop is locked, so I've picked up a Mac and
am preparing for some travels around Europe. I’'m planning to drop off the QBE laptop at the QBE

London office tomorrow Monday.”


https://qbe.world/home
https://qbe.world/home
https://qbe.world/home
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Dec 22, 2024 at 2:33 PM: QBE states; “Hi AL You have to drop off the laptop in the office you picked it

from. These are leased equipment. @Dilip Nayak please inform Mphasis on this”

Dec 22, 2024 at 8:41 AM: Whistleblower states; “Copy. | was going to stop by QBE London office

tomorrow and ask for permission to mail it to New York QBE.”

Dec 22,2024 at 2:51 PM: QBE states; “Thank will cost a lot. Please return the equipment where you

picked it from”

Dec 22,2024 at 9:14 AM: Whistleblower states; “Thank you, Palav! | completely understand the
frustration around costs—especially the ongoing expenses of keeping the Accenture team involved to
reconcile the issues | highlighted below. If they’re unable to resolve it, don’t hesitate to reach out to me
directly. Just to clarify, | never picked up the QBE laptop—it was FedExed to my New York apartment. I'm
hoping QBE IT can provide me with a FedEx shipping label so | can return it promptly, particularly since
I’m currently abroad. Had the QBE Workday system simply locked the Cisco QBE client, | could have
continued using the laptop instead of needing to pick up a Mac. As you know, having a reliable machine

while traveling is essential.

Dec 22,2024 at 3:28 PM: QBE states; “@Whistleblower Yes QBE will give you shipping with in US not sure
about UK. Please discuss with Mphasis leadership on their agreement on hardware with QBE. @Mirza Ali
@Jitendra Borkar Can you please guide AL here? | don’t enjoy your persistent smear on QBE application
build with their partners or QBE partners (including Mphasis) . | don’t want to hear or see any more email

from you on any QBE application or partners. @Dilip Nayak Need your steer here.

Dec 22,2024 at 4:36 PM: Whistleblower states; “Thank you for the email, Palav. Let me assure you,
there’s no intent to smear anyone. The attachments and data speak for themselves. The current system
is like flying from London to New York by heading west instead of east across the Atlantic—an
unnecessarily complicated and costly route. As you mentioned, the Azure Search blob is expensive, and
as demonstrated in the attached exhibits, it’s not even needed. | was hired to consult on the application,

and | fulfilled those responsibilities as required. It’s been an honor working with QBE”

Mar 28, 2025 at 9:05 AM: Whistleblower states: “Hey Dilip,
I’m still in Cannes, my friend, and your QBE Dell laptop is just collecting dust in my New York

apartment. In hindsight, | should have dropped it off at QBE London. I'll take care of it once I’'m
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back in New York, just drop it off at QBE offices down in the financial district. Hope all is well,

Whistleblower https://mphasis.it.com/

Apr 11,2025 at 11:02 PM: Mphasis Console states; “As | have instructed you repeatedly, immediately stop
using any email impersonating Nitin Rakesh or any other personnel working for Mphasis. This behavior
is fraudulent and likely criminal and has been reported to law enforcement. Additionally, immediately

take down the mphasis.it website and stop communicating with Mphasis clients”

Apr 11,2025 at 3:01 PM: Whistleblower states; “Palavesam Chandrasekhar

(Palavesam.Chandrasekar@gbe.com) is the QBE contact who insisted the laptop be returned in New

York rather than London. As | mentioned before, | don't believe QBE or Mphasis fully understands what
transpired. What | do know is that QBE was taken advantage of—and | can prove it. The video at

https://Kestri.com shows my system executing flawlessly in under a second, while the version on the

right side stumbles for 30 seconds and even hallucinates when prompted about “data protection.” Let

me know if you’d like me to walk you through it.

Apr 11,2025 at 5:15 PM: Whistleblower states; “Let’s be clear: if Mphasis leadership hadn’t actively
blocked me, there would have been no need for me to create the Mphasis.it.com domain. To this day;, |
still have the QBE Dell laptop collecting dust in New York. No one from Mphasis or QBE has made any
attempt—no FedEx return box, no communication, nothing—to retrieve it. That silence speaks volumes.
Now we’re facing a trial over wrongful termination tied to protected actions and age discrimination—

and everyone involved knows it. See you in court.

May 6, 2025: COURT ORDER; “Whistleblower good-faith cooperation, Plaintiff shall arrange for QBE to
provide a QBEgenerated Federal Express label and box to Whistleblower no later than May 8, 2025. If
such a label and box are provided to Whistleblower, he shall use them to return his QBE-issued laptop no

later than May 9, 2025.

May 7, 2025 at 12:49 PM: Whistleblower states; “FedEx attempted delivery, but as you know, I’'m
currently in France and a signature is required. If possible, please instruct FedEx to leave the box in the
building’s mailroom. The box is labeled as coming from Kimberly. | assume the return label inside is
from QBE and addressed to QBE. If it’s not, please ensure | receive the correct return label directly from
QBE. That process is typically confirmed by email from QBEjust as it was when the laptop was originally

provisioned to me in October 2024 before | traveled to Morocco. The device was issued to me, and |


https://mphasis.it.com/
mailto:Palavesam.Chandrasekar@qbe.com
https://kestri.com/
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remain responsible for its return. To be clear, | will not be returning it to Kimberly’s office. The order is to

return the laptop to QBE something | have been requesting since December.”

May 7, 2025 at 8:02 PM: QBE Console; “The Fed Ex delivery you reference below is not the QBE delivery of
the laptop shipping materials from QBE. The FedEx tracking number for QBE’s delivery to is
881085671508 and no attempt of delivery has been made of QBE’s delivery at this point. Lastly, as |
previously stated, the return shipping label that you will receive reflects QBE as the shipping recipient for

when you ship the laptop back.”

May 7, 2025 at 7:57 PM: Mphasis Console; “This is the one | sent last week.”

May 7, 2025 at 2:08 PM: Whistleblower states; “Dear Ms. Anderson, Thank you for the clarification and
for confirming that the QBE package has not yet been delivered. | will monitor tracking number
881085671508 and await the QBE-labeled shipping materials. Once received, | will promptly package the
laptop and return it using the enclosed label addressed to QBE, as instructed.

May 9, 2025 at 3:25 AM: Whistleblower states; “Could you clarify what “tried to deliver” means in this

context? FedEx typically leaves packages in our building’s mailroom”

May 9, 2025 at 1:26 PM: QBE Console; “FedEx is attempting to redeliver today before noon. The delivery

requests a signature to ensure that you indeed receive the shipping materials.”

May 9, 2025 at 6:05 AM: Whistleblower states; “Thank you for the update. As the package contains only
an empty box and return label, | respectfully request that FedEx be instructed to leave it in the building’s
mailroom—no signature required. The regular FedEx courier is familiar with the premises, and this will

ensure timely and uncomplicated delivery. | appreciate your cooperation.

May 9, 2025 at 2:44 PM: QBE Console; “Unfortunately, because the package is already in FedEx’s

possession, | am not able to change the delivery requirements at this point”

May 9, 2025 at 9:44 AM: Whistleblower states; “Copy noted. If a signature is still required, I’'m happy to
pick up the package directly from FedEx. There are three locations in the Chelsea 10011 area—feel free to

have it held at the nearest one for pickup.”
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May 9, 2025 at 6:23 PM: QBE Console; “To avoid delays in QBE’s delivery of the laptop return shipping
materials due to FedEx not being able to obtain your signature, QBE arranged for a courier to deliver a
new shipping box (with a new shipping return label inside of it) to your address yet today without your
signature. Accordingly, RDS Delivery Service has confirmed that the laptop return shipping materials
have now been delivered to your address. Please return the laptop using these return shipping materials
by placing the laptop inside the shipping box, put the FedEx return shipping label on the outside of the
box, and then ship it back to QBE by no later than Monday, May 12,2025

May 12,2025 at 8:45 PM: Whistleblower states; "The FedEx tracking number for the independently
generated return shipment | used is: 881169050153 (FedEx Standard Overnight, shipped May 11, 2025).
Please note: the shipment was executed on May 11 — the first practical opportunity after QBE failed to
provide an electronically traceable label in accordance with the Court’s May 6, 2025 TRO. As detailed in
my forthcoming declaration, | acted promptly and in good faith to comply, despite QBE’s failure to
implement a compliant return protocol. [Please see attached exhibit: QBE Laptop FedEx.jpg]

Delivery confirmation will be visible upon arrival. The package is addressed to QBE’s VP of IT at 55 Water
Street — just a 10-minute walk from my residence in Chelsea. That fact alone underscores how entirely
avoidable this breakdown was. More importantly, it confirms that QBE has no functioning process for
retrieving endpoint devices — including those provisioned with infrastructure credentials and protected
data — even after five months of inaction.

No global financial enterprise routes the return of a regulated asset to an executive’s office. That detail
alone reflects systemic governance failure. It is increasingly clear that QBE is relying on its vendor,
Mphasis, and its partner HealthEquity to shield the public narrative — promoting a theory of “aggressive
hacking” when the evidence points to internal mismanagement.

Had | not created the whistleblower archive at QBE.world and escalated this return myself, the laptop —
and the failures surrounding it — likely would have been buried.

This is not a procedural oversight. It is the same structural failure | escalated internally as part of my
protected whistleblower disclosures regarding QBE’s unmanaged multi-endpoint architecture. That
failure directly preceded the March 2024 healthcare data breach — which QBE has mischaracterized
publicly as the result of external threat actors. That narrative is false.

The breach was not caused by external actors. It was caused by the absence of basic internal controls —
compounded by outsourced offshore execution by teams operating beyond U.S. jurisdiction and in

defiance of QBE’s own enterprise data policies."

Legal action.
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The March 2024 QBE healthcare data breach was not caused by external cyber intrusion, but by internal
governance breakdowns—precisely the same endpoint and oversight failures | reported. QBE’s ongoing
refusal to provide a veridiable digital chain of custody, reliance on physical-only delivery methods, and
unwillingness to communicate electronically about this return mirror those systemic dediciencies.
Additionally, QBE and Mphasis operate under layered offshore structures. QBE’s infrastructure is
ultimately managed outside the United States, and Mphasis is a subsidiary of an Indian multinational.
These cross-border frameworks appear designed not for efdiciency, but to obscure accountability from
U.S. courts, regulators, and affected individuals.

Returning the laptop under these conditions does not waive any legal claims. Rather, it evidences—
factually and procedurally—the same systemic governance failures that continue to endanger regulated
data and operational integrity.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on: May 10, 2025 Location: New York, New York

Scope Clarification for Forensic Examination

To preserve evidentiary integrity and limit unnecessary intrusion into personal and privileged materials,
| affirm that the only relevant Mphasis-related content on my device consists of the following:

1. Adirectory labeled “Mphasis,” created in 2024 to store Mphasis HR materials and work product
relating to QBE projects.

2. Any locally stored or cached content from my Mphasis-issued email

address: Whistleblower@mphasis.com.

These two items reflect the full extent of any material potentially within the scope of the TRO.
Importantly, had Plaintiff Mphasis provided a dedicated work-issued device—as was repeatedly
requested but never fulfilled—this data would reside on company-controlled hardware. The QBE-issued
laptop | had used for dual-access was permanently locked down in December 2024. Even after this
shutdown, Mphasis management continued to deny Whistleblower a company-issued laptop or access
to Mphasis-managed infrastructure. On December 18, 2024, Mphasis’s ClO Office confirmed in writing:
“You can use personal machines, but you will be limited to WEB Version only. This has been an Mphasis
CIO/CRO policy for at least 5 years. ONLY Mphasis Domain Joined machines can use Desktop apps, which
allow downloading and storing of Mphasis data.” (Jared Bulger, Senior U.S. Administration Officer) In
short, Whistleblower never had access to the Mphasis domain, was explicitly blocked from using secure
desktop tools, and had no reasonable alternative but to access work systems via a personal Mac.
Accordingly, forensic access must be narrowly tailored to the limited, work-specific locations described

above. All other content is personal, privileged, or unrelated, and falls outside the scope of the Order.
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Disclaimer: Protected Legal Submission
This site contains content directly related to the pending matter Mphasis Corporation v. Whistleblower,
Case No. 25-cv-3175 (JMF), before the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York.
All materials are presented in furtherance of a constitutionally protected and statutorily authorized
whistleblower defense. They include sworn declarations, factual assertions, legal arguments, and
evidence submitted by the undersigned, appearing pro se.
These disclosures are expressly protected under:

e 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) - Defend Trade Secrets Act (Whistleblower Immunity)

e 18 U.S.C. § 1514A - Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX)

e 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6(h) - Dodd-Frank Act (SEC Whistleblower)

e N.Y. Lab. Law § 740 - New York Whistleblower Protection Law
No information herein was obtained through unauthorized access or improper means. All content is
submitted in good faith to expose and document systemic compliance failures and risks to public

interest, consistent with applicable law.

Protected Disclosure Notice:
This archive constitutes a good-faith disclosure under 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) and 18 U.S.C. § 1514A.
It reports suspected violations of U.S. data-privacy, compliance, and audit-control laws by entities
processing regulated U.S. data from offshore environments.

No classified, sealed, or privileged material is disclosed.

465-473_Summary
What_Was_Said_Why_False

Full_Archive
Root Cause & Litigation

Dual-Use Endpoint

Forgotten QBE Laptop

Defendant Domain Expert
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Mphasis Corp. v. Rojas — Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff,
v

ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.
Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

Exhibit A — Mphasis & QBE Data-Governance Failures

Audit Breakdown and Whistleblower Disclosure Chronology

This exhibit reproduces evidence already interwoven by Plaintiff’s counsel into ECF 14,
originally sourced from Defendant’s public whistleblower archive.

It is cited throughout ECF 470 through 479 and authenticated in the accompanying § 1746
Declaration.

The materials trace the internal audit, policy, and compliance breakdowns that prompted
Defendant’s whistleblower reports and show how those disclosures were subsequently
incorporated into the Court record.

Authenticated in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration.

I certify under penalty of perjury that this exhibit is a true and correct copy of the document
referenced in my

Declaration under 28 U.S.C. § 1746, cited throughout ECF 470-479.

Executed on October 28, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas

Defendant, Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F
New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com
(646) 866-1669
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)

This archive constitutes a good-faith
disclosure under 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b)

Reports offshore handling of U.S. regulated data in
potential breach of compliance controls.

Mphasis & QBE — Data Governance Failures and Retaliation

Data Compliance at Risk

Evidence from federal filings shows systemic endpoint-control failures by Mphasis and QBE
that left U.S. citizens’ data exposed.

Until a verified audit is complete, both enterprises should be suspended from U.S. data-
handling operations.

Mphasis & QBE — Data Governance Failures and Retaliation
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@ What | Reported as a Whistleblower. No confidential or privileged material disclosed.

Case Reference: Mphasis Corporation v. Rojas, U.S. District Court, S.D.N.Y., Case No. 1:25-cv-03175
(JMF)(OTW)

Source Citations: ECF 12 p.20 92; ECF 13; ECF 14-25; ECF 14-38; ECF 14-41 p.52; ECF 404; ECF 466-472.

1. Dual-Use Endpoint (October 2024)

Reported internally to the Mphasis CIO Whistleblower Portal, later confirmed by configuration logs.

Finding: QBE and Mphasis engineers were using the same QBE-issued laptop to access both
QBE and Mphasis corporate systems — a direct violation of each company’s endpoint-

control and data-segregation policies.

Regulatory Impact: This dual-use created cross-domain exposure and audit gaps
contrary to:

« HIPAA §164.308(a)(4) (Access Control)

+SOC 2 CC6.x (Logical & Physical Access Controls)

« NIST CSF ID.AM / PR.AC (Asset & Access Management)

2. Retaliation Pattern (February 2025)

After this disclosure, Mphasis management redirected QBE.pots configuration files to my personally
assigned laptop, then cited that setup as the basis for discipline and termination.

This conduct represents retaliation after a protected compliance report, not a security breach.
Evidence in ECF 14-25 shows Mphasis orchestrated the transfer; ECF 13 contains supervisory testimony
later contradicted by that evidence.

3. Negligence and Cover-Up (Spring 2025)

Following termination, QBE and Mphasis failed to deactivate the original QBE endpoint, leaving it
online and unmanaged.

Only after public documentation and notice to executives did the companies attempt “recovery” — by
engaging a private investigator to seize a QBE-owned laptop they had lost track of.

This reveals a systemic failure of endpoint governance identical to patterns preceding the March 2024

U.S. healthcare data breach attributed to QBE systems.

¢ Why It Matters
1. The root issue was corporate negligence, not employee misconduct.

2. Retaliation and misstatements (ECF 12 p.20 92) arose only after the protected disclosure.
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3. The Rule 60(b)(3) motion seeks to correct the factual record and restore accuracy: the device

was a QBE endpoint under QBE control, not misappropriated property.

i Regulatory Relevance

The documented behavior reflects continuing violations of U.S. data-governance and audit-

trail requirements.

Both Mphasis and QBE, acting as offshore processors of U.S. regulated data, failed to maintain
compliance with HIPAA, SOC 2, and NIST CSF frameworks.

Until verified by a U.S.-accredited audit authority (NIST, HITRUST, or SOC 2 Type ll), these
enterprises should be suspended from handling U.S. regulated data pending independent review
and certification.

Such action is necessary to protect covered entities, business associates, and U.S. citizens from

continued exposure to unmanaged offshore data-access risks.

Formal Whistleblower Disclosure and Request for Oversight Audit — Mphasis Corporation &
QBE Insurance Group

I am submitting the enclosed Statement of Record for Publication concerning systemic data-governance
failures and retaliation following a protected whistleblower disclosure in Mphasis Corporation v. Rojas
(U.S. District Court, S.D.N.Y., Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 [JMF][OTW]).

The record demonstrates that offshore personnel of Mphasis and QBE accessed U.S.-regulated data
through a shared QBE-issued endpoint in violation of HIPAA, SOC 2, and NIST CSF access-control
standards. Subsequent internal retaliation and public misstatements (ECF 12 p.20 92) were based on this

same misconfiguration, which has never been audited or corrected.

Because both entities act as offshore processors of U.S. healthcare and insurance data, |
respectfully request:

1. An independent audit by a U.S.-accredited assessor (NIST, HITRUST, or SOC 2 Type Il); and
2. Suspension of data-handling privileges for Mphasis and QBE pending audit verification and

corrective action.
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These steps are necessary to ensure compliance with federal data-segregation and endpoint-control
requirements, and to protect U.S. citizens whose information remains exposed through unmanaged

offshore systems.

Thank you for your attention and commitment to data-integrity oversight.

Statement of Record for Publication

Formal Whistleblower Disclosure and Request for Oversight Audit — Mphasis Corporation &
QBE Insurance Group

Mphasis & QBE — Data Governance Failures and Retaliation Following Protected

Whistleblower Disclosure

Case Reference: Mphasis Corporation v. Rojas, U.S. District Court, S.D.N.Y., Case No. 1:25-cv-03175
(JMF)(OTW)

Source Citations: ECF 12 p.20 92; ECF 13; ECF 14-25; ECF 14-38; ECF 14-41 p.52; ECF 404; ECF 466-472.
Date: October 2025

1. Dual-Use Endpoint (October 2024)

Reported internally to the Mphasis CIO Whistleblower Portal, later confirmed by configuration logs.
Finding: QBE and Mphasis engineers were using the same QBE-issued laptop to access both QBE and
Mphasis corporate systems — a direct violation of each company’s endpoint-control and data-
segregation policies.

Regulatory Impact: Violations under HIPAA §164.308(a)(4), SOC 2 CC6.x, and NIST CSF ID.AM / PR.AC.

2. Retaliation Pattern (February 2025)

After disclosure, Mphasis redirected QBE.pots configuration files to the whistleblower’s personal laptop,
then cited that setup as cause for termination — constituting retaliation following a protected
compliance report.

Evidence: ECF 14-25 (email direction) and ECF 13 (contradictory supervisory declaration).

3. Negligence and Cover-Up (Spring 2025)

Following termination, QBE and Mphasis failed to deactivate the original QBE endpoint, leaving it online
and unmanaged. After public documentation, they attempted recovery by hiring a private investigator to

seize a QBE-owned laptop they had lost track of.
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This demonstrates systemic endpoint-governance failure mirroring patterns preceding the March 2024
U.S. healthcare data breach attributed to QBE.
Why It Matters
« The issue was corporate negligence, not employee misconduct.
« Retaliation and misstatements (ECF 12 p.20 92) arose after the protected disclosure.
« The Rule 60(b)(3) motion seeks to correct the factual record: the device was a QBE endpoint under
QBE control.
Regulatory Relevance
The record shows noncompliance with U.S. data-governance and audit-trail standards. Both Mphasis
and QBE, acting as offshore processors of U.S. regulated data, failed to meet HIPAA, SOC 2, and NIST CSF
controls. Until certified by a U.S.-accredited authority (NIST, HITRUST, or SOC 2 Type Il), their

authorization to handle U.S. regulated data should be suspended pending audit.

Statement of Record for Publication

Mphasis & QBE — Data Governance Failures and Retaliation Following Protected

Whistleblower Disclosure

Download PDF »
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Statement of Record for Publication

Mphasis & QBE — Data Governance Failures and Retaliation Following
Protected Whistleblower Disclosure

Prepared by: Albert Rojas

Case Reference: Mphasis Corporation v. Rojas, U.S. District Court, S.D.N.Y,, Case No. 1:25-
cv-03175 (JMF)(0TW)

Source Citations: ECF 12 p.20 {2; ECF 13; ECF 14-25; ECF 14-38; ECF 14-41 p.52; ECF 404;
ECF 466-472.

Date: October 2025

1. Dual-Use Endpoint (October 2024)

Reported internally to the Mphasis CIO Whistleblower Portal, later confirmed by
configuration logs.

Finding: QBE and Mphasis engineers were using the same QBE-issued laptop to access both
QBE and Mphasis corporate systems — a direct violation of each company’s endpoint-
control and data-segregation policies.

Regulatory Impact: Violations under HIPAA §164.308(a)(4), SOC 2 CC6.x, and NIST CSF
ID.AM / PRAC.

2. Retaliation Pattern (February 2025)

After disclosure, Mphasis redirected QBE.pots configuration files to the whistleblower’s
personal laptop, then cited that setup as cause for termination — constituting retaliation
following a protected compliance report.

Evidence: ECF 14-25 (email direction) and ECF 13 (contradictory supervisory declaration).

3. Negligence and Cover-Up (Spring 2025)

Following termination, QBE and Mphasis failed to deactivate the original QBE endpoint,
leaving it online and unmanaged. After public documentation, they attempted recovery by
hiring a private investigator to seize a QBE-owned laptop they had lost track of.

This demonstrates systemic endpoint-governance failure mirroring patterns preceding the
March 2024 U.S. healthcare data breach attributed to QBE.

Why It Matters

» The issue was corporate negligence, not employee misconduct.

« Retaliation and misstatements (ECF 12 p.20 {2) arose after the protected disclosure.
¢ The Rule 60(b)(3) motion seeks to correct the factual record: the device was a QBE
endpoint under QBE control.

1/2  Next »
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Protected Disclosure Notice:
This archive constitutes a good-faith disclosure under 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) and 18 U.S.C. § 1514A.
It reports suspected violations of U.S. data-privacy, compliance, and audit-control laws by entities
processing regulated U.S. data from offshore environments.

No classified, sealed, or privileged material is disclosed.
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Mphasis Corp. v. Rojas — Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff,
v

ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.
Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

Exhibit D — Root Cause & Litigation

How a False Statement Became a Sanction Predicate

This exhibit reproduces evidence already interwoven by Plaintiff’s counsel into ECF 14,
originally sourced from Defendant’s public whistleblower archive.

It is cited throughout ECF 470 through 479 and authenticated in the accompanying § 1746
Declaration.

The materials map how Plaintiff’s misstatement in ECF 12 p. 20 § 2—that Defendant “refused to
return the QBE laptop” —became the factual predicate for sanctions and forensic orders, despite
contradictory evidence already before the Court.

Authenticated in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration.

Executed on October 28, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas

Defendant, Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F
New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail .com
(646) 866-1669
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Statement from Defendant

This case is not about personal grievances—it is about institutional failures.

Despite the Court’s early focus on legal aid referrals and procedural motions, the record now reflects
deeper concerns: QBE left an active laptop unsecured for months, exposing U.S. healthcare data.
Mphasis failed to provision secure infrastructure, then pivoted to blame the whistleblower who
documented it.

My filings at QBE.world are protected disclosures. They exist to surface facts—not rhetoric—that impact

public safety and national data governance. This is not defiance. It’s documentation.

DISCLAIMER: This summary is a factual representation of public filings and protected disclosures made
by the Defendant in accordance with rights under 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b), Sarbanes-Oxley, Dodd-Frank, and
New York Labor Law & 740. No confidential, sealed, or privileged information has been disclosed beyond
what has been publicly filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. This

document is provided for transparency and does not constitute legal advice or waiver of any legal rights.

The following sections draw exclusively from materials already filed by Plaintiff—specifically ECF Nos.
14-38, 14-41, 286-13, and 286-14—each submitted by Mphasis to this Court as public exhibits. At the time
of filing, none of these documents were sealed, redacted, or marked as confidential. Only after
Defendant cited them in his defense did Plaintiff attempt to retroactively relabel them as “trade secrets,”
in a transparent effort to suppress unfavorable but lawfully disclosed facts. The evidentiary record
speaks for itself. All commentary herein is based solely on Mphasis’s own public docket submissions and

is protected by law.

14-38 ocr p1-46 (pdf)

{3
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14-38 ocr p47-94 (pdf) X
14-41 ocr p1-63 (pdf) x
14-41 ocr p64-113 (pdf) £3
286-13 (pdf) &
286-14 (pdf) *

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

Whistleblower Files Emergency Motion to Sanction QBE and Mphasis for Concealing Major U.S.
Healthcare Data Breach

NEW YORK, NY - July 2, 2025 - Albert Rojas, a pro se defendant in Mphasis Corporation v. Rojas, Case
No. 1:25-cv-03175 (S.D.N.Y.), has filed an emergency motion under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11
seeking sanctions against Mphasis Corporation and its client QBE North America for orchestrating—and
then concealing—a major cybersecurity breach involving protected U.S. healthcare data.

The motion requests the Court to:

e Vacate a prior injunction (ECF No. 207) obtained through misrepresentations;

o Impose sanctions against Mphasis’s legal counsel for misleading the Court;

o Refer both QBE and Mphasis to federal enforcement authorities—including HHS, FTC, SEC,
and DHS/CISA—for violations involving audit evasion, breach concealment, and retaliation

against a protected whistleblower.

Rojas alleges that Mphasis executives deliberately circumvented internal security policies to transmit
restricted data directly to his personal laptop—exposing sensitive healthcare-related information.

He further asserts that QBE knowingly left a corporate endpoint active, accessible, and unencrypted
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for over five months after his departure—failing to act until his disclosures were made public

via https://QBE.world.

“This Court has now been conscripted—however unwittingly—into enforcing a cybersecurity

cover-up,” Rojas writes. “That must end.”

Attached as Exhibit A is the original file, QBE.pptx, sent by Mphasis leadership in direct
violation of HIPAA, NIST 800-53, and ISO/IEC 27001 standards. The motion also spotlights
contradictory public statements made by Mphasis—undermining their own trade secret

claims and revealing a pattern of retaliatory litigation.

Rojas is demanding the immediate suspension of QBE and Mphasis’s authority to process U.S. data
pending an independent, court-monitored cybersecurity audit by federal agencies.
The full filing, along with supporting evidence, has been made publicly available for transparency at:

<~ https://QBE.world

Downloads

le

Exhibit_C_QBE_PPTX_Email_Transmission_Flattened (pdf)

L Public Filing # Trade Secret

Mphasis filed ECF Nos. 14-38 and 14-41 unsealed—no redactions, no protective order.
Then claimed | “misappropriated trade secrets” by quoting them.

But here’s the twist:

That same Plaintiff—and the Court—sealed a personal cellphone number (ECF No. 67).
Apparently, a 10-digit number deserves more confidentiality than the mishandling of U.S.
healthcare infrastructure.

This TRO wasn’t about protection.

It was about punishing protected speech and shielding offshore partners (Mphasis and QBE)


https://qbe.world/
https://qbe.world/
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from accountability.

Legal Update - Rule 11 Sanctions and Court Order Sought

On June 22,2025, Defendant filed an amended declaration detailing false and retaliatory statements by
Plaintiff’s counsel Kimberly Karseboom and William Grob of Ogletree Deakins. These attorneys
mischaracterized publicly filed, unsealed documents (ECF Nos. 14-38 and 14-41) as “trade secrets”

in order to obtain invasive relief against the Defendant, including proposed forensic access to

personal devices.

The Defendant has requested judicial sanctions under Rule 11 and submitted a Proposed Court

Order stating:

“ORDERED that Plaintiff and its counsel, Kimberly Karseboom and William Grob of Ogletree
Deakins, shall SHOW CAUSE why sanctions under Rule 11 should not be imposed.”

This action follows months of misleading litigation tactics that obscured QBE’s own security lapses and
triggered unconstitutional overreach. All materials remain derived from public filings and protected

whistleblower activity under 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b), SOX, Dodd-Frank, and NYLL § 740.

Pro Se Trial Readiness and Public Interest Statement

As a pro se litigant, | approach this matter with full respect for the Court and all parties involved.

My intent is not adversarial, but constitutional: to ensure that all facts are properly weighed and

that domestic law—especially as it relates to U.S. data security and endpoint governance—is

applied equitably.

This case does not pit individuals against each other. It raises structural concerns about how offshore
enterprise structures—like those of Mphasis and QBE—have sidestepped internal enforcement policies,
failed to secure active healthcare endpoints, and deprioritized U.S. data governance in favor of
financial efficiency.

The QBE-issued laptop remained unrecovered for months. It was used across multiple endpoints. These
actions were contrary to QBE’s own internal policies—policies that appear to have been knowingly
ignored. Rather than acknowledge these lapses, litigation was initiated.

| remain trial-ready, not only to defend my rights, but to help the Court examine how regulated data was

handled under these conditions. My participation is in service of the same democratic principles this
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Court was established to uphold: transparency, accountability, and adherence to U.S. law.

QBE.World - Public Interest Summary

Introduction

QBE Insurance Group and Mphasis Corporation are engaged in a civil matter raising material questions
about enterprise governance, data security, and retaliation following protected disclosures. This
summary presents verified facts, procedural context, and public-interest implications in a manner
consistent with legal standards and transparency.

Governance Failure and Data Exposure

On February 28, 2025, an Mphasis executive transmitted QBE-related materials to Defendant without
providing a corporate-managed, encrypted, or policy-approved device—nor any protective designation.
The resulting security lapse originated upstream from Defendant and was later documented in court
filings. The exposure was due to internal enforcement failures, not external intrusion.

Laptop Return and Retaliation Timeline

Following termination, Defendant attempted to return a QBE-issued laptop. After corporate email access
was disabled, Defendant used a traceable alias to transmit return instructions. All communications were
signed and attributable. Rather than addressing the recovery context, Mphasis cited the alias as
“impersonation”—a claim echoed in press coverage despite the absence of any misrepresentation.
Public Records and Media Coverage

All referenced exhibits and email communications derive from the public docket in Mphasis v. Rojas,
Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (S.D.N.Y.). No sealed, redacted, or confidential-designated materials were
disclosed beyond those publicly filed by Plaintiff. Media coverage, including by LiveMint, has referenced
both the impersonation allegation and the broader whistleblower disclosures.

Why This Matters

This matter does not concern unauthorized hacking—but governance failure over sensitive enterprise
endpoints. The QBE-issued device remained unrecovered for over five months post-termination, during
which Mphasis and QBE failed to coordinate retrieval or confirm secure chain of custody.

QBE claims the device was “locked” via software in December 2024. However, remote locks are not
equivalent to physical retrieval or forensic assurance. Security experts confirm: software-based locking

is a mitigation—not a safeguard—especially when the device remains physically uncontrolled.
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Remote lock mechanisms can be bypassed under various conditions:

« Login Circumvention - A skilled actor with physical access can use bootable media or privilege
escalation tools to bypass OS credentials.

« Lack of Full-Disk Encryption - Data at rest may be accessible if disk encryption is not enforced.

« Firmware Vulnerabilities - Without BIOS/UEFI boot protection, external booting is possible.

« Misconfigured Wake-on-LAN / Remote Access - Dormant devices may be exploitable if

improperly secured.

Failure to physically retrieve a live healthcare endpoint is not merely a technical lapse—it is a regulatory
and operational breach. Allowing an active device containing protected data to remain outside
corporate control is analogous to a court bailiff leaving a loaded sidearm unattended: foreseeable,
preventable, and institutionally negligent.

Claims of misappropriation must therefore be weighed against Plaintiffs’ own failure to retrieve, secure,
or verify endpoint custody. The risk did not originate with Defendant—but with those responsible for
data protection.

Internal Breach - Not External Hacking

The QBE.pptx incident exemplifies a recurring enterprise risk: sensitive data loss stemming from
internal control failures, not malicious external intrusion. Mphasis transmitted materials to an
unmanaged endpoint and failed to initiate retrieval protocols. The result is consistent with systemic
governance breakdowns.

Clarifying the “Nitin” Alias

The temporary alias nitin.rakesh@mphasis.it.com was created only after Mphasis blocked Defendant’s

communication channels. It was used exclusively to facilitate the return of QBE property. Every message
was signed by Defendant. No effort was made to impersonate any real person. The alias functioned as a
delivery channel—not an act of fraud or misrepresentation.

Rule 11 Sanctions Requested

On June 17,2025, Defendant filed a Rule 11 motion seeking sanctions against Plaintiff for
mischaracterizing public court filings as trade secrets. The challenged exhibit—ECF No. 14-38—was filed
by Plaintiff without protective seal, confidentiality marking, or restriction.

Motion Basis and Requested Relief

The motion invokes:

« Judicial Estoppel, New Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742 (2001)

« Waiver of Privilege, Fed. R. Evid. 502

« Unclean Hands, Precision Instrument Mfg. Co., 324 U.S. 806 (1945)

« Sanctions, Rule 11(b)(1)-(3), Rule 16(f), and 28 U.S.C. § 1927


mailto:nitin.rakesh@mphasis.it.com
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Defendant has requested corrective action and referral of Plaintiff’s counsel to relevant grievance
committees for alleged misstatements and procedural abuse.

Endpoint Governance and Oversight Failure

Despite receiving multiple email notices, QBE failed to coordinate the laptop’s retrieval. Mphasis later
submitted sworn declarations asserting refusal—serving as grounds for a forensic imaging order.
However, the laptop was never issued by Mphasis and remained under QBE’s enterprise domain

and governance.

Protected Whistleblower Disclosures

Disclosures regarding dual-endpoint architecture, offshoring, and compliance failures affecting
protected healthcare data were made in good faith and are shielded by federal and state
whistleblower statutes.

The March 2024 QBE healthcare breach appears consistent with the exact governance deficiencies
Defendant had previously reported—namely, the failure to secure live devices, enforce return protocols,
and monitor access control in cross-border settings.

Legal Action and Breach Attribution

QBE declined to provide a verifiable digital chain of custody and relied on physical-only delivery
methods for endpoint return—without offering secure electronic options. Its global infrastructure is
managed outside the U.S., while Mphasis operates as a foreign subsidiary. These cross-border structures
complicate domestic oversight and raise policy concerns regarding regulatory visibility.

Returning the laptop under such conditions does not waive legal rights. Instead, it affirms—both
factually and procedurally—the same control failures that exposed patient data and violated
compliance norms.

Final Statement

Defendant asserts his right to jury trial. Whatever the outcome, the materials at issue remain publicly

filed. This matter is subject to continuing judicial and regulatory scrutiny.

WIP

No Misappropriation

» Mphasis never issued you a device.

« The laptop at issue was QBE property.

« They cite ECF No. 14-38 as “trade secrets” but filed it publicly, unsealed.
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« You created the mphasis.nyc domain to fulfill a return obligation they failed to coordinate.

Protected Whistleblower Activity

« You reported clear internal governance failures (dual endpoint, unsecure device, no retrieval process).
« Your disclosures align with statutory protections under:

©18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) (DTSA whistleblower immunity),

° SOX / Dodd-Frank (retaliation protections),

o NYLL § 740 (retaliation for health and safety disclosures).

Intent Was Transparency—Not Deception

« Every message using mphasis.nyc or nitin.rakesh@mphasis.it.com was signed.

« No impersonation—just traceable delivery when they cut off all access.
Jury Perspective
« You're the individual trying to return a healthcare laptop in good faith.

« They're the multinational who left it sitting, unsecured, while blaming you for doing your job.

Protected Disclosure Notice:
This archive constitutes a good-faith disclosure under 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) and 18 U.S.C. § 1514A.
It reports suspected violations of U.S. data-privacy, compliance, and audit-control laws by entities
processing regulated U.S. data from offshore environments.

No classified, sealed, or privileged material is disclosed.

465-473_Summary
What_Was_Said_Why_False

Full_Archive
Root Cause & Litigation

Dual-Use Endpoint

Forgotten QBE Laptop

Defendant Domain Expert

Brad Kelly PI
Mphasis Retaliation & Age

Ruturaj Waghmode
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Mphasis Corp. v. Rojas — Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff,
V.
ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.

Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

Exhibit G — Statement of Record — Mphasis / QBE Whistleblower

Consolidated Chronology for Public Oversight

This exhibit reproduces evidence already interwoven by Plaintiff’s counsel into ECF 14,
originally sourced from Defendant’s public whistleblower archive.

It is cited throughout ECF 470 through 479 and authenticated in the accompanying § 1746
Declaration.

The materials present the full timeline of Defendant’s protected disclosures and correspondence
with Mphasis and QBE executives, providing a transparent record for regulatory and judicial
review.

Authenticated in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration.

Executed on October 28, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas

Defendant, Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F
New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail .com
(646) 866-1669
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Statement of Record for Publication

Mphasis & QBE — Data Governance Failures and Retaliation Following
Protected Whistleblower Disclosure

Prepared by: Albert Rojas

Case Reference: Mphasis Corporation v. Rojas, U.S. District Court, S.D.N.Y,, Case No. 1:25-
cv-03175 (JMF)(0TW)

Source Citations: ECF 12 p.20 2; ECF 13; ECF 14-25; ECF 14-38; ECF 14-41 p.52; ECF 404;
ECF 466-472.

Date: October 2025

1. Dual-Use Endpoint (October 2024)

Reported internally to the Mphasis CIO Whistleblower Portal, later confirmed by
configuration logs.

Finding: QBE and Mphasis engineers were using the same QBE-issued laptop to access both
QBE and Mphasis corporate systems — a direct violation of each company’s endpoint-
control and data-segregation policies.

Regulatory Impact: Violations under HIPAA §164.308(a)(4), SOC 2 CCé6.x, and NIST CSF
ID.AM / PR.AC.

2. Retaliation Pattern (February 2025)

After disclosure, Mphasis redirected QBE.pots configuration files to the whistleblower’s
personal laptop, then cited that setup as cause for termination — constituting retaliation
following a protected compliance report.

Evidence: ECF 14-25 (email direction) and ECF 13 (contradictory supervisory declaration).

3. Negligence and Cover-Up (Spring 2025)

Following termination, QBE and Mphasis failed to deactivate the original QBE endpoint,
leaving it online and unmanaged. After public documentation, they attempted recovery by
hiring a private investigator to seize a QBE-owned laptop they had lost track of.

This demonstrates systemic endpoint-governance failure mirroring patterns preceding the
March 2024 U.S. healthcare data breach attributed to QBE.

Why It Matters

» The issue was corporate negligence, not employee misconduct.

« Retaliation and misstatements (ECF 12 p.20 2) arose after the protected disclosure.
* The Rule 60(b)(3) motion seeks to correct the factual record: the device was a QBE
endpoint under QBE control.
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Regulatory Relevance

The record shows noncompliance with U.S. data-governance and audit-trail standards. Both
Mphasis and QBE, acting as offshore processors of U.S. regulated data, failed to meet HIPAA,
SOC 2, and NIST CSF controls. Until certified by a U.S.-accredited authority (NIST, HITRUST,
or SOC 2 Type II), their authorization to handle U.S. regulated data should be suspended
pending audit.

Attestation

I, Albert Rojas, declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and
correct to the best of my knowledge, based on records already before the Court and publicly
filed in ECF 001-479.

Executed on October 26, 2025, at New York, NY.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Albert Rojas
Albert Rojas (Pro Se)
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Mphasis Corp. v. Rojas — Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MPHASIS CORPORATION, Plaintiff,
v

ALBERT ROJAS, Defendant.
Case No. 1:25-cv-03175 (JMF)(OTW)

Exhibit B — Dual-Use Endpoint
The Policy Failure That Began It All

This exhibit reproduces evidence already interwoven by Plaintiff’s counsel into ECF 14,
originally sourced from Defendant’s public whistleblower archive.

It is cited throughout ECF 470 through 479 and authenticated in the accompanying § 1746
Declaration.

The materials document QBE and Mphasis permitting simultaneous use of the same QBE-issued
laptop across corporate domains, a configuration that violated both entities’ own separation-of-
duties and data-loss-prevention policies.

Authenticated in Defendant’s § 1746 Declaration.

Executed on October 28, 2025, in New York, New York.

/s/ Albert Rojas

Albert Rojas

Defendant, Pro Se

319 W. 18th Street, Apt. 3F
New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com
(646) 866-1669
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Mphasis & QBE The Next Applied - Data Governance Failures and Retaliation

»

\

Dual-Use Endpoint Failure

October 31,2024 at 11:38 AM: Whistleblower states; “As for accessing Mphasis email, it appears policy
(page 10, section r) restricts use on a QBE laptop. While incognito and stateless web sessions are an

option, I'm not sure they're permitted under the guidelines.”

October 31,2024 at 2:31 PM: Whistleblower states; “Per attached QBE Policy, page 10 section r), it does
not look like we are allowed to access third-party emails unless QBE has approved... r) Use unauthorised
third-party email services for exchanging business-related messages and information. Only the QBE
provided email system or other approved transmission tools may be used for transmitting information

and files relevant to QBE’s business;”

Oct 31,2024 at 2:53 PM: Mphasis HR states, “Since you already got a client laptop, Mphasis IT team will

not provide you an Mphasis laptop.”

Oct 31, 2024 at 19:18 PM: Mphasis CIO Office states, “Point mentioned talks about unauthorized email
services for transmitting Information and files relevant to QBE’s Business , which is how it should be .

You should not try to transmit client data using any other email services.”

Oct 31, 2024 at 2:53 PM: Mphasis CIO Office states, “User can use personal machines for accessing

I”

Mphasis web mails over browser or request Mphasis WVD
Nov 1, 2024 at 1:19:28 PM: Whistleblower states; “Team,
I’m encountering errors when trying to access the Mphasis portal from my personal Mac. I've attached

screenshots for reference. As per QBE policy (referenced below), I’'m unable to use the QBE Windows

laptop for this purpose. Baldwinder, could you please advise on steps to access the Mphasis WVDI, as


https://qbe.world/home
https://qbe.world/home
https://qbe.world/home
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discussed yesterday? I’'m grateful for the opportunity to contribute and look forward to resolving this
matter. Respectfully, Albert
QBE Policy Reference:

Group Acceptable Use Policy.pdf, page 10

4.8 Prohibited Behavior

Section (r): Use unauthorized third-party email services for exchanging business-related messages and
information. Only QBE-approved systems may be used for transmitting sensitive information relevant to
our business.

Additional Note:

Accessing third-party systems, including portals or email clients, through web connectors can pose
security risks. Based on experience with companies like Walmart, BofA, and others, security incidents

are often internal rather than external.

Nov 1, 2024 at 2:21 PM: Mphasis CIO office states; “Please try it in different browser it should work.
Also Jitendra has already clarified on this yesterday. Any further queries on policy please connect with

your manager."

Nov 1, 2024 at 4:41 PM: Whistleblower states; “During a live Zoom session (about 30 minutes ago) with
Dilip, his laptop encountered a blue screen error and crashed... Contractors should not be accessing
employee portals through QBE-issued laptops and web sessions, even if a network configuration
oversight left this access open. In the event of a breach, QBE and regulatory bodies will likely audit

all access logs, including web sessions. Attached is a photo taken with my iphone during my session

with Dilip."

Dual-Use Endpoint Governance Failure
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QBE and Mphasis Enabled Policy-Breaching Architecture With Known Compliance Risks

During a live session, QBE-issued hardware crashed with a blue screen error.
QBE Dilip Nayak: “My system just crashed. Weird.”

This failure underscores a deeper issue: QBE knowingly provisioned enterprise laptops to third-party
contractors with unrestricted access to multiple endpoint systems—including Mphasis and QBE portals
—through a single device. This violates basic tenets of access separation, auditability, and governance.

The proper protocol, consistent with enterprise cybersecurity norms, is for third parties to use their own
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endpoint devices for accessing their respective domains—not repurpose internal infrastructure in

violation of corporate policy.

» QBE

INSURANCE

Documented Attempt to Comply With Policy

November 1,2024 - 1:19:28 PM - Whistleblower Statement:

“Team, I’m encountering errors when trying to access the Mphasis portal from my personal
Mac. I've attached screenshots for reference. As per QBE policy (referenced below), I’'m unable
to use the QBE Windows laptop for this purpose. Balwinder, could you please advise on steps
to access the Mphasis WVDI, as discussed yesterday? I’'m grateful for the opportunity to
contribute and look forward to resolving this matter.”

— Respectfully, Albert (Whistleblower)

QBE Policy Reference - Group Acceptable Use Policy, Page 10
Section 4.8 - Prohibited Behavior:

e Subsection (r):

“Use [of] unauthorized third-party email services for exchanging business-related messages
and information. Only QBE-approved systems may be used for transmitting sensitive

information relevant to our business.”

Expert Security Advisory Noted by Whistleblower
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“Accessing third-party systems, including portals or email clients, through web connectors can
pose security risks. Based on experience with companies like Walmart and Bank of America,

security incidents are often internal rather than external.”

Ongoing Federal Enforcement Context
This is not a theoretical risk. On March 25, 2025, the U.S. Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

(O0CC) formally notified Congress of a major federal information security incident stemming from
unauthorized access to sensitive email infrastructure.

& 0CC Disclosure: nr-occ-2025-30
Legal Relevance for QBE and Mphasis Counsel

The dual-endpoint architecture, internal policy violations, and failure to provision proper infrastructure
to Whistleblower—while continuing to assign privileged tasks—expose QBE and Mphasis to regulatory
scrutiny, breach liability, and whistleblower retaliation claims under:

e 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) - DTSA Whistleblower Immunity

e 18 U.S.C. § 1514A - Sarbanes-Oxley Act

e 15U.S.C. § 78u-6(h) - Dodd-Frank Act

¢ N.Y. Lab. Law § 740 - New York Whistleblower Protection Law

Dual-Use Endpoint Failure

Nov 12,2024 at 3:25 PM: Whistleblower states; “Team,

It’s clear there’s an issue with QBE’s network security when accessing the QBE ServiceNow portal
requires using incognito mode. See QBE laptop screen below my name.

Allowing third parties to access internal portals via the QBE network is risky and leaves the door open to
potential security breaches.

Someone should advise QBE that they should seriously consider tightening their network security. For
comparison, I’ve never been able to access an employer's portal through networks at JPMC, DoD, Navy,
SpaWAR, or Los Alamos Labortories whereas | could at Walmart—and we’re all aware of Walmart’s
security challenges.

Respectfully,

Whistleblower


https://occ.gov/news-issuances/news-releases/2025/nr-occ-2025-30.html




